Oakland Schools and Oakland Schools Technical Campus Education Association

MASTER AGREEMENT

2007-2010







Michigan Education Association 1370 N. Oakland Blvd., Suite 150 Waterford, MI 48327-1572 248.666.4600 Toll free: 877.587.6080



Human Resources Center 2111 Pontiac Lake Road Waterford, Michigan 48328-2736 248.209.2131 www.oakland.k12.mi.us

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purpose1
Article 1, Recognition1
Article 2, Employee Evaluations
Article 3, Professional Negotiations
Article 4, Continuity of Operations
Article 5, Assignments
Article 6, Vacancies and Transfers
Article 7, Protection of Employees
Article 8, Yearly Work Schedule
Article 9, Hourly Employee Holidays/Vacations
Article 10, Teaching Load
Article 11, Working Conditions
Article 12, Work Schedule
Article 13, Paid Leaves
Article 14, Unpaid Leaves
Article 15, Sabbatical
Article 16, Grievance Procedure
Article 17, Rights of the Association
Article 18, Contract Maintenance Committee
Article 19, Agency Shop

Article 20, Board Rights and Responsibilities
Article 21, Seniority 30
Article 22, Miscellaneous
Article 23, Layoff and Recall
Article 24, Shared-Time and Part-Time Employment
Article 25, Distance Learning
Article 26, Insurance
Article 27, New or Changed Jobs 40
Article 28, Compensation 40
Article 29, Mentors
Article 30, Duration of Agreement
Appendix A, Teacher Salaries
Appendix B, Instructional Technicians
Appendix B-1, Custodians/Maintenance
Appendix B-2, Office Assistants
Appendix C, Disclaimer Form
Appendix D, Grievance Form
Appendix E, Oakland Schools Teaching Mentoring Program
Appendix F-1, Attachment 1-A Cluster Meetings
Appendix F-2, Guidelines for Cluster Meeting Attendance 57
Appendix G, Letter of Understanding
Letter of Understanding "A" 59

Letter of Understanding "B")
Letter of Understanding "C"	 L
Letter of Understanding "D")

<u>AGREEMENT</u>

PURPOSE

The purpose of this Agreement is to help us meet the challenges of rapidly changing environment in public education. It is a reality that Oakland Schools must now compete for students in order to survive and prosper. That requires us continually to improve education outcomes for the students, parents and community members who are our partners and our customers. It requires us to foster collegial work relations to support teamwork, innovation and customer service. This Agreement is our attempt to describe plainly the things we must accomplish together and the improved professional work relations we must have in order to accomplish them.

ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The Oakland Schools Board of Education hereinafter noted as the "Board" recognizes the Oakland Technical Center Education Association/MEA-NEA (OTCEA), hereinafter noted as "Association," as the exclusive bargaining representative as defined in Section 11 of Act 379, Public Acts of Michigan, 1965, for all employees in the bargaining unit, set forth in 1.2 below, for purposes of collective bargaining in respect to wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment, as defined in Act 379 of the Public Code of Michigan, 1965.
- 1.2 Bargaining unit members means all full-time and regular part-time teachers (including Counselors), instructional technicians, office assistants and custodial/ maintenance employees employed by Oakland Schools at the four Technical Centers currently located in Clarkston, Pontiac, Royal Oak and Walled Lake, but excluding Deans, Associate Deans, administrators and supervisors, as defined by law, and all other employees.
- 1.3 The term "teacher" when used herein shall mean salaried personnel employed by the Board in Section 1.2 of this Article who hold valid Michigan Secondary Certificates or their equivalent (e.g., endorsement, authorization or licensure) in accordance with Michigan Department of Education Regulations, under a contract and compensated under Schedule A.
- 1.4 The term "Board" or "Oakland Schools" when used herein, shall refer to the Board of Oakland Schools, its designees, representatives or agents, including Oakland School administrators and supervisors.
- 1.5 The term "Employee," when used herein, shall mean members of the bargaining unit. All reference to male employees shall include female employees and all masculine pronouns shall include both male and female.
- 1.6 Membership in any professional trade organizations shall not be considered as a condition of employment.

ARTICLE 2 - EMPLOYEE EVALUATIONS

- 2.1 Employees shall be formally evaluated by their Dean, Associate Dean, or other administrative personnel designated by the Superintendent. Administration will meet with new probationary teachers and non-probationary teachers scheduled for evaluation that school year to explain the evaluation process prior to a formal evaluation.
- 2.2 Under normal circumstances, formal observations for purposes of a teacher evaluation shall not take place until after the first full week of student attendance in the fall and before the last week of student attendance at the end of the school year. Normally, the formal observation will be from 15 to 60 minutes in duration and, upon written request of the teacher, a meeting will be scheduled to discuss the observation.
- 2.3 A conference with the employee being formally evaluated will take place within ten (10) school days following completion of the evaluation. An employee shall have the right to read his/her evaluation and discuss it with his/her evaluator before the evaluation is placed in his/her file. After reading and discussing the evaluation, the employee shall sign the evaluation indicating that it has been read and a copy received. The signature of the employee does not necessarily imply agreement with the evaluation.
- 2.4 Probationary teachers shall be formally evaluated in accordance with applicable law. They will receive a minimum of two (2) formal observations held at least sixty (60) days apart. An Individualized Development Plan (IDP) will be prepared each year in consultation with the teacher. The final evaluation each year will include an assessment of the teacher's progress toward meeting the goals of his/her Individualized Development Plan.
- 2.5 Non-probationary teachers shall be formally evaluated at least once every three (3) years.
- 2.6 Non-teacher seniority employees will be evaluated yearly. It shall be Oakland School's practice to evaluate non-teacher probationary employees prior to the expiration of their probationary period (see Article 16.16).
- 2.7 Although the contents of an evaluation are not subject to the grievance procedure, in the event an employee disagrees with a written evaluation, he/she shall have the option of having his/her own comments attached to the evaluation. Said comments must be submitted to the Personnel Office within thirty (30) days from the time the employee receives the evaluation. The employee may also request a meeting with the Dean/Supervisor and the Director of Career-Focused Education to review the evaluation. The employee shall be entitled to have his/her building representative or the Association President present at such meeting. The Board also agrees that evaluations shall not be used as reprimand or discipline.

2.8 The evaluation process and possible changes in the evaluation instrument will be reviewed with the Contract Maintenance Committee.

ARTICLE 3 - PROFESSIONAL NEGOTIATIONS

- 3.1 It is recognized that matters of mutual concern to the parties may arise during the life of this Agreement. The parties may mutually agree to cooperatively consider an attempt to resolve such matters. Any amendment to this Agreement that is agreed upon must be placed in writing and executed by both parties. Any such amendment is subject to ratification by the Board and the Association prior to implementation.
- 3.2 Not later than ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement, upon written request, the Board agrees to negotiate with the Association over a successor agreement.
- 3.3 For the duration of this Agreement the Board agrees not to negotiate with any labor organization other than the Association for the employees covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 - CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS

- 4.1 Both parties recognize the desirability of continuous and uninterrupted operation of the instructional program during the normal school year and the avoidance of disputes which threaten to interfere with such operations.
- 4.2 The Association agrees that during the term of this Agreement it shall not direct, instigate, participate in, encourage, or support any strike against the Board by any employee or group of employees, nor shall any member of the bargaining unit instigate, participate, encourage or support any strike against the Board.
- 4.3 A strike shall be defined to mean the concerted failure to report for duty, the willful absence from one's position, the stoppage of work or the abstinence in whole or in part from the full, faithful and proper performance of the duties of employment.
- 4.4 In the event of any violation of this Article, the Association will post notices immediately at any or all schools affected, advising that such strike is unlawful, in violation of this Agreement and unauthorized by the Association. The Association shall advise employees to return forthwith to their regular duties. The Association shall further take any and all other action, reasonably within its power, to bring the strike to an end. If the Association takes the foregoing steps and has not acted in violation of this Article, it shall not be liable in any way for such strike.

4.5 Violation of this Article by any employee or group of employees may also result in the imposition of discipline, up to and including discharge, as determined by the Board.

ARTICLE 5 - ASSIGNMENTS

- 5.1 The Board shall employ teachers who possess proper state endorsement, authorization, license or other Department of Education approval. Any vocational education teacher who is annually authorized and working toward a teaching degree at a sponsoring institution shall not be replaced by a degreed/authorized teacher unless required by law and/or the Michigan Department of Education.
- 5.2 Oakland Schools shall continue to make reasonable efforts to provide qualified substitutes. Except in extenuating circumstances, an IT will not be required to substitute outside their assigned cluster area more than three (3) times per semester. In the event that an instructional technician substitutes for an absent teacher, the instructional technician's wages will be adjusted in accordance with Article 28.4.
- 5.3 No teacher shall be required to substitute for another teacher except in an emergency. Failure of a substitute to arrive on schedule, the inability of Oakland Schools to secure a substitute or when an unanticipated absence occurs during the workday, are all examples of an emergency. Teachers will be asked to substitute in an emergency. In the event no one agrees to substitute, teachers will be assigned on an equitable basis.
- 5.4 Under normal circumstances, teachers shall be given written notice of their tentative teaching assignment, including cluster, content specialty areas and campus, for the coming school year, no later than the last teacher workday of the school year. In the event a tentative assignment is changed by Oakland Schools, the affected teacher and the Association shall be promptly notified, with reasons for the change, and be given the opportunity to discuss the change with his/her Dean, or the Dean's designee.
- 5.5 Extra-pay assignments shall be as set forth in Appendix A.
- 5.6 Preference for summer school assignments (which are voluntary), shall be given first to the teacher or instructional technician who successfully taught the program the previous summer, then to the teacher assigned to the class at the campus operating the class and then to the instructional technician assigned to the class at the campus operating the class. If no such teacher/instructional technician takes the position, the assignment will be offered to qualified teachers from other campuses and then to qualified instructional technicians from other campuses. Under normal circumstances, notice of summer school programs shall be given by April 1st. Except for this Section 5.6 and rates of pay set forth in Appendix A.A-4, summer school assignments shall not otherwise be covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 6 - VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS

6.1 <u>Definitions</u>.

A "transfer" is a change from one campus to another, within the same cluster in the case of teachers, or from one campus to another within the same classification for all other employees.

A "vacancy" shall be defined as a position within the bargaining unit arising by virtue of a newly-created position, death, retirement or resignation which the Oakland Schools desires to fill either through reassignment (i.e., voluntary or involuntary transfer), application from a current employee, or new hire.

- 6.2 A vacancy shall be publicized by giving written notice to the Association and posting the notice at each campus for a minimum of ten (10) school days, provided teacher vacancies arising after August 1st for the coming school year (except for newly-created programs) may be filled by administration without having to have been posted. The posting will contain the position to be filled, the work location, the length of the work year (i.e., 52 weeks, the school year, etc.) and a summary of the qualifications required. The posting will be limited to one (1) page in length, will make reference to the fact that the written job description for the position contains a more complete description of the position, and that the job description is available upon request.
- 6.3 Less than 52-week employees who wish to receive notice of vacancies arising after the end of the school year, but prior to the start of the next school year, shall notify the Human Resource Department in writing by June 1st of each school year.
- 6.4 Employees meeting the qualifications for the position who submit a written application within the time provided shall receive consideration with other applicants and those employees who have voluntary transfer requests on file. Oakland Schools agrees to give due weight to professional background and attainment, competency, qualifications, seniority and other relevant factors. In the event these factors are determined to be equal by Oakland Schools, preference will be given to the most senior employee over a new hire. The decision of the Assistant Superintendent shall be final, however. Each applicant shall be notified of the decision of Oakland Schools within five (5) workdays of the filling of the position.
- 6.5 If an employee desires to transfer to a position at a different campus within his/her classification, the employee shall set forth the reasons for the transfer and his/her qualifications. Such requests shall be renewed once each year to assure active consideration. A request for transfer will be reviewed before a vacancy is filled.

Transfer requests will be filed with the Director of Human Resources. Qualified applicants with a valid transfer request on file will be given an interview before a vacancy is filled by a new hire.

- 6.6 In the event an employee is involuntarily transferred from one campus to another, the employee will be notified, with reasons for the transfer, and be given the opportunity to discuss the transfer with his/her Dean or the Dean's designee. Under normal circumstances, an employee being involuntarily transferred on other than a temporary basis will be given at least two (2) weeks advance notice. Employees transferred on a temporary basis will be eligible for mileage reimbursement under applicable Oakland Schools Mileage Policy. Involuntary transfers shall not be made for arbitrary reasons.
- 6.7 An employee involuntarily transferred as a result of a program reduction/closing shall have preference to return to the first vacancy arising in his/her former position within three years from the date of the involuntary transfer.

ARTICLE 7 - PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES

- 7.1 Oakland Schools recognizes its responsibility to give reasonable administrative support and assistance to employees with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline at the campuses.
- 7.2 Employees recognize their responsibility to give reasonable support and assistance to administration.
- 7.3 No employee shall be disciplined or discharged without just cause, provided, however, notwithstanding this provision, the discharge of a probationary employee by Oakland Schools shall not be deemed a violation of the collective bargaining agreement nor the basis of a grievance. A probationary teacher may, prior to the effective date of discharge, request an interview with the Superintendent or his/her designee, to review the reason(s) why he/she was recommended for discharge. The Board's decision to discharge a probationary employee shall be fully effective whether or not an interview is requested or takes place.
- 7.4 Determination of just cause in the discharge or demotion of a tenure teacher shall be through the appeal procedure provided in the Michigan Teacher Tenure Act.
- 7.5 Upon request, an employee will be entitled to have present a representative of the Association when the employee reasonably believes that a meeting with representatives of Oakland Schools may lead to disciplinary action. When the employee requests Association representation, administration shall delay action until an Association representative is present.

- 7.6 Whenever a supervisor conducts a hearing concerning alleged deficiencies in professional performance, the employee will be entitled to an Association representative. Oakland Schools shall inform the employee of this right. If a written record of the alleged deficiencies is to be made and inserted in the employee's personnel file, a copy of the written record will be sent to the employee at the time it is placed in his/her personnel file.
- 7.7 In the event an employee is suspended or discharged, a copy of the suspension/discharge notice will be sent to the Association President. Any grievance involving an employee suspension or discharge shall be filed at Step Three of the Grievance Procedure within fifteen (15) workdays of the date of the suspension/discharge.
- 7.8 Employees will not be required to transport students.
- 7.9 Any case of an assault upon an employee arising out of and in the cause of his/her employment shall be promptly reported to the Dean or his/her designee who shall in turn report it to the Superintendent or his/her designee. If requested, Oakland Schools shall provide legal counsel to advise the employee of his/her rights and shall render reasonable assistance in connection with the handling of the incident by law enforcement and judicial authorities.

In the event of damage to the employee's personal property as a result of said assault, Oakland Schools will reimburse the employee for such damage not covered by insurance, up to three hundred (\$300) dollars.

If the employee is absent from work as a result of the personal injury caused by an assault arising out of and in the course of his/her employment, the employee will be paid his base salary (less the amount of a workers' compensation or other insurance benefit paid for disability due to said injury) and employee-provided health insurance for the period of such absence not to exceed ten (10) months, and no part of such absence will be charged to the employee's annual or accumulated sick leave. Seniority shall accrue.

- 7.10 Each employee shall have the right, upon written request, to review the contents of his/her personnel file. A representative of the Association may, at the employee's request, accompany the employee in this review. An employee may request a copy of documents in his/her personnel file.
- 7.11 Complaints directed against an employee which, in the Supervisor's judgment, reflect on the competency or conduct of an employee and are determined to be serious or recurring, will be brought to the attention of the employee on a timely basis. The complaint will be discussed with the employee before any disciplinary action is taken.
- 7.12 The Human Resource Department will promptly notify an employee when there is a Freedom of Information Act Request from a third party to obtain copies of material in the

employee's personnel file. The identity of the person or organization requesting this information will be shared with the employee. Oakland Schools will provide an opportunity for the employee (and the Association President, if requested by the employee) to review that portion of the FOIA request relative to the employee and the documents in the employee's file that relate to the request.

- 7.13 All employees shall exhibit the highest standards of professionalism and respect to subordinates and peers alike.
- 7.14 All student teachers shall be under the supervision of a tenure teacher. Teachers may voluntarily accept the assignment of a student teacher. If possible, an interview shall occur between the teacher and the student teacher prior to the assignment. Any remuneration received from the sponsoring college or university shall be designated for use of the respective campus cluster program.
- 7.15 The Oakland Schools Code of Student Conduct will be distributed annually to each teacher with a copy on file in the Dean's office. A copy will also be forwarded to the administration of the sending districts.
- 7.16 A teacher may send a pupil from his/her class to the office of an administrator when the grossness of the offense, the persistence of the misbehavior, or the disruptive effect of the violation makes the continued presence of the pupil in the classroom intolerable. Such exclusion must be in accordance with applicable law and Board policy. In such case, the teacher will furnish the Dean or his/her designee with a verbal explanation, as promptly as his/her teaching obligations allow, and in any event by the end of the day, will furnish a detailed written report of the incident particulars. The Dean or his/her designee, after reviewing the situation, shall inform the teacher of the action taken.
- 7.17 Oakland Schools provides liability insurance in excess of \$1 million dollars for employees acting within the scope of their duties, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in said policy.
- 7.18 Surveillance equipment may be utilized in order to protect the health, welfare and property of the District, its employees, students, visitors and the public. Surveillance equipment will not be used for evaluation purposes. An employee being disciplined as a result of the use of surveillance equipment shall have the right to grieve whether the use of the surveillance equipment was justified under the circumstances. In the event the grievance is upheld, the Employer shall not be entitled to rely upon the evidence obtained from the surveillance.

ARTICLE 8 - YEARLY WORK SCHEDULE

- 8.1 There shall be a common calendar for all of the campuses. Subject to the provisions and applicability of Public Act 101 of 2007, the calendar shall include 183-1/2 student days, and 188 teacher days (192 for new teachers) for each school year.
- 8.2 In the event there is a change in what constitutes or is counted as pupil instruction time, or in the event the pupil instruction time needs to be lengthened or the number of days increased for sending Districts to receive full state aid results in the need to increase the work day/work year, the matter will be referred to the Contract Maintenance Committee. If additional time is necessary, it will be confined to the campus in question.
- 8.3 Teachers shall be required to attend professional development/inservice days scheduled by Oakland Schools as part of their work year as defined in 8.1 above. Oakland Schools will continue to involve employees in the planning and implementation of professional development/inservice.
- 8.4 Professional activities outside of the normal workday will be required for the two Countywide advisories, one parent orientation/open-house, one student recruitment activity, and the two parent-teacher conference sessions, one each semester. If additional professional activities are required outside of the normal workday, they will be voluntary and be compensated for at the hourly rate set forth in Appendix A-A-5. For the term of the agreement, the two County-wide advisories will be held during the normal workday for the each school year.
- 8.5 In the event a campus is closed for students due to inclement weather or other emergency causes, and if such days must be made up to comply with applicable law or Department of Education regulations, the Board will meet to advise the Association of the necessary number of make-up days which shall be added to the school calendar.
- 8.6 The decision to close a campus shall be made by Oakland Schools.
- 8.7 When a campus is closed due to inclement weather, Instructional Technicians will not suffer any loss of pay in the event the missed day of instruction is not made up. If a campus is closed due to other emergencies, the Instructional Technician may be reassigned to another building, if there is no work available, the Instructional Technician shall not be compensated.
- 8.8 When a campus is closed due to inclement weather or other emergency, Custodians/ Maintenance employees are expected to report to work as soon as possible. All Custodians may be required to report on a day shift schedule. Those who do report when school is

closed due to inclement weather, shall be paid time and one-half for all hours worked on said shift. In the event the Custodian/Maintenance employees cannot report to work, said employee shall have the option of applying earned vacation or personal time to avoid loss of pay.

8.9 When a campus is closed due to inclement weather, office assistants shall not be required to report and shall suffer no loss of pay in accordance with Oakland School's policy. When a campus is closed due to other emergencies, office assistants are expected to report to work. In the event the office assistant cannot, said employee shall have the option of applying earned vacation or personal time to avoid loss of pay. Office assistants will be paid if they are sent home because of a power failure.

ARTICLE 9 - HOURLY EMPLOYEE HOLIDAYS/VACATIONS

9.1 <u>HOLIDAYS</u>

A 52-week non-teaching employee who has successfully completed the probationary period, after completion of 90 calendar days of employment, will receive base pay for the following holidays:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day Memorial Day Good Friday Monday after Easter Fourth of July Labor Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day New Year's Eve

providing, the employee was otherwise scheduled to work on the day the holiday fell and the employee works the last scheduled day prior to such holiday and the next scheduled day after such holiday, unless on an approved vacation leave, jury duty, funeral leave or as set forth in Section 9.3 below.

In addition to the above, Oakland Schools shall designate two to four other days as paid holidays for 52-week Office Assistants each fiscal year.

9.2 An instructional technician and any other less than 52-week non-teaching employee, after completion of 90 calendar days of employment, will receive base pay for the following designated holidays, provided he/she meets the same eligibility requirements provided in 9.1. The designated holidays are:

Labor Day Martin Luther King Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day New Year's Day Memorial Day July 4th

- 9.3 Eligible employees who have gone on approved paid leave under 13.1 or workers' compensation leave within fourteen (14) days immediately preceding the holiday shall receive holiday pay.
- 9.4 If a holiday, listed in 9.1 and 9.2 above, falls on Sunday, the following Monday will be a holiday if school is not in session. If Monday is already a holiday, then Friday immediately prior to the holiday will be a holiday, providing school is not in session. If a holiday falls on Saturday, the Friday immediately prior to the holiday shall be a holiday, providing school is not in session. If Friday is already a holiday, then the following Monday shall be a holiday if school is not in session.
- 9.5 If an hourly employee were to work on a holiday because school is in session, he/she shall be given a day off in lieu of the holiday on a day mutually-agreed upon by the employee and the immediate supervisor.
- 9.6 Base pay shall be defined as the employee's hourly rate times the number of hours the employee is normally scheduled to work on the day in question.
- 9.7 In the event it is necessary to have an employee work on a holiday, the employer shall offer the opportunity to work by classification and campus, in seniority order. Employees who work on a holiday shall be paid double time for all hours worked, in addition to holiday pay, provided, if an afternoon shift starts on a holiday and continues into the holiday, the work on the holiday will continue to be paid as if it is a non-holiday. In the event that no employee volunteers, the least senior employee in the classification and campus who is qualified to do the work may be required to work, provided at least one week's notice is given, except in an emergency where such notice is not possible and provided the employee does not have compelling reasons for being unable to work. Employees who are assigned to work on a holiday and fail to report shall not receive holiday pay.

9.8 <u>VACATIONS</u>

A 52-week full-time, non-teaching employee will earn vacation with pay in accordance with the following:

a. <u>Fifty-Two Week Employee</u> -

Years of Service	Days Accrued Per Pay Period Worked
One	.39
Two	.39
Three	.60
Four or more	.77

- b. <u>Less than Fifty-Two Week Employee</u> (excluding instructional technicians) A less than 52-week non-teaching employee shall accrue pro-rata vacation based on the number of full weeks employed as compared to 52 weeks.
- c. An employee shall accrue, but not earn or use, vacation during his/her probationary period. At the completion of his/her probationary period, accrued vacation will be credited to the employee's vacation bank.
- d. No employee may accumulate more than thirty (30) days of earned vacation. In the event Oakland Schools is required to cancel a scheduled vacation, the thirty (30) day maximum will be waived or the employee will be paid for the vacation days over said maximum. A scheduled vacation will only be cancelled for compelling operational reasons.
- e. Vacation days at each campus shall be scheduled by the employer based on classification and seniority. In order to determine employee preference, employees may turn in a written vacation preference sheet to the Dean or designee for approval. Employees may be restricted from taking vacations when school is in session.
- f. If conflicts in scheduling arise within a classification in a campus, preference will be given to the employee with the most classification seniority in the campus.
- 9.9 Employees who terminate employment voluntarily or involuntarily, including retirement and/or layoff, shall be paid at their base hourly rate for all unused, earned vacation time, provided an employee who terminates without at least two (2) weeks advance written notice shall forfeit all earned, unused vacation. In the case of death of the employee, all earned, unused vacation time will be paid to the employee's estate.
- 9.10 Pay for vacation days shall be at the employee's hourly rate, times the average number of hours the employee is normally scheduled to work.

ARTICLE 10 - TEACHING LOAD

The Board and the Association recognize that one of the factors related to the quality of classroom instruction is the number of pupils in a classroom. The Dean and the members of the cluster shall work cooperatively to resolve issues regarding balancing class loads with consideration given to State guidelines.

ARTICLE 11 - WORKING CONDITIONS

- 11.1 Teachers will have reasonable access to word processing equipment, computers and duplicating equipment for preparation of instructional material.
- 11.2 The Board and Association recognize that money is handled for classes, clubs and other school activities. To assure proper business practices are used, a policy for handling money will be developed by Oakland Schools and reviewed with the Contract Maintenance Committee. No money shall be collected from students without the knowledge and approval of the Campus Dean.
- 11.3 When textbooks have been approved for a course, desk copies and teacher manuals shall be made available for the use of the teacher teaching the course. The Board shall strive to timely provide instructional and reference materials required to meet standards established for each program.
- 11.4 The preparation of written instructional plans demonstrably connected to strategic learning objectives, and designed to inspire achievement of learning benchmarks, is a professional responsibility of individual teachers. Teachers are expected to maintain both long-range (semester or year) and short-range (daily/weekly) plans. Instructional plans are recognized as a valuable tool for professional development, counseling and classroom delivery. The lesson plans should therefore be of sufficient detail and clarity to enable continuity of the learning program if a substitute teacher is required.
- 11.5 Oakland Schools will provide lunchroom and lavatory facilities for use of employees separate from those to be used by students.
- 11.6 Oakland Schools will explore providing a communication system in each building that enables the staff to communicate between the classroom and the school office. Telephones shall be provided in each building for professional use by employees in connection with school business.
- 11.7 Locked storage space will be provided within each classroom or building where personal property may be kept, it being understood that the Board reserves the right to inspect the contents of such locked storage area.

- 11.8 The parties recognize that a clean and safe environment is conducive to the learning process. Employees shall promptly report any unsafe or hazardous conditions to the Dean/immediate supervisor. The staff agree that their presence and visibility during the student day is an essential component of a safe and well-managed environment and agree to be in the halls before, after, and between classes, as directed by the Dean.
- 11.9 The Board shall provide safety equipment and protective clothing it deems necessary to comply with applicable State and Federal regulations. Employees shall be responsible for utilizing such protective clothing and equipment and for the care and maintenance of such equipment and clothing.
- 11.10 The Board and Association recognize that teams of employees working in a supportive, team-oriented environment are desirable. The parties agree to commit to good faith efforts to create such environments, including clusters and functional teams in every building. In June of each year, the District will conduct an electronic survey of its certified staff and instructional technicians in each cluster, seeking input into the content of professional development and cluster meetings for the following school year. At the final cluster meeting in May, the cluster will provide input into the content of the upcoming survey. At the commencement of the following school year, the District will forward the results of this survey to the respective cluster and the Association.

ARTICLE 12 - WORK SCHEDULE

- 12.1 The normal school day for teachers shall be 7 hours and 40 minutes, including lunch. The day shall include a 60-minute block of universal time each normal school day. The universal time shall be scheduled at the end of the workday. On Fridays, the universal time shall be optional and teachers are free to leave at the start of the universal time. Upon recommendation of the Dean and with approval of the Director of Career-Focused Education, universal time may be banked and taken in up to three (3) hour blocks at the end of the workday on designated Tuesdays.
- 12.2 Universal time shall be devoted to campus and/or District wide-type activities such as curriculum, team planning, event planning, committee meetings, staff meetings, research and the like. Exceptions shall be approved by the Director of Career-Focused Education.
- 12.3 Teachers will be scheduled for fifty (50) minutes planning, preparing and conference time, divided into not more than two segments during the normal day. Planning time shall be used for professional activities and is subject to the total school program.
- 12.4 The lunch period for teachers shall be a duty-free thirty (30) minutes.

- 12.5 Teachers may be required to teach up to 330 minutes of student instruction per day (see Section 8.1), if such time is necessary in order for the sending District to receive full state aid. In the event additional instructional time is added, it will only be added to the affected campus and it will not result in an increase in the normal school day nor will the time be taken from the planning, preparing, conference time in 12.3 (although it may, however, be taken from universal time in 12.1).
- 12.6 The normal workday for instructional technicians will be 7 hours per day, exclusive of a 30minute unpaid lunch period. The normal work year shall be the teacher work year unless otherwise specified by Oakland Schools. Instructional technicians may work a longer year, if requested by the Dean, and approved by the Superintendent. If a longer work year is needed for instructional technicians, the instructional technicians will be notified of the longer year prior to June 1st for a longer work year in the next school year. Instructional Technicians shall have the option of working during parent-teacher conferences and shall be compensated according to their hourly rate, consistent with Appendix B. An instructional technician may leave at the same time teachers leave on Fridays, provided that the instructional technician has reported for duty twelve (12) minutes early on each day in that week, or unless another start time has been agreed upon between Oakland Schools and the employee.
- 12.7 The normal workday for regular, full-time office assistants and custodians shall be 8 hours, exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of 30 minutes, Monday through Friday, provided nothing herein shall constitute a guarantee of hours worked per day or days worked per week nor shall it be a limitation on Oakland's right to schedule work in excess of the normal workday or normal workweek or otherwise assign a reasonable amount of overtime. Summer hours for 52-week office assistants (i.e., 7 hours, exclusive of an unpaid lunch), shall be in effect from the first Monday following the end of the school year until the Monday preceding the first teacher workday at the start of the next school year.
- 12.8 In the event the Dean schedules an hourly employee to work more than forty (40) hours per week, the employee shall be compensated one and one-half (1-1/2) times his/her regular hourly rate. A custodian or office assistant shall be compensated two times his/her regular hourly rate for working on Sunday (provided when working a shift which starts on Saturday and continues into Sunday, the hours on Sunday shall be excluded from the double time requirement). Payment of overtime rates shall not be duplicated for the same hours worked. Hours compensated at overtime rates under one (1) provision shall not be counted as hours worked in determining overtime under the same or any other provision.
- 12.9 Full-time custodian and office assistant employees will be scheduled for a fifteen (15) minute break during the first half of their eight (8) hour shift and a fifteen (15) minute break during the second half of their shift, subject to student needs.

- 12.10 Oakland Schools shall have the right to assign starting and quitting times for each employee and each shift, and to assign the time for lunch and rest periods. The work period shall be a continuous period of time unless a split shift is agreed-upon between Oakland Schools and an employee.
- 12.11 In the event Oakland Schools decides to operate an additional session(s) for students beyond those currently in effect, the parties will meet to review the proposed schedule for such session(s). To the extent possible, the work schedule, including lunch period, length of normal school day, universal time, planning, preparation and conference time, instructional time, etc., shall be comparable to the work schedule in the regular sessions.
 - 1. Oakland Schools will notify OTCEA in writing of extended day programs for each campus.
 - 2. Preference for extended day teaching assignments, shall be given first to the most senior teacher(s) at the campus responsible for operating the cluster. If a qualified teacher does not accept the assignment, preference will be given to the most qualified senior teaching assistant(s) who successfully taught in the cluster the previous school year at the campus operating the cluster. If the assignment is not filled, it will be posted internally at all four technical campuses for five (5) workdays, unless agreed to by both parties. Preference will be given to the most qualified senior teacher(s), then to the most qualified senior teaching assignment(s).
 - 3. Extended day teaching assignments will be effective for the school year in question or semester, if it is only offered for one semester of the school year.
 - 4. Under normal circumstances, staff will be notified in writing of their tentative extended day teaching assignments not later than the last teacher workday. Enrollment demands may necessitate a later notification date for an extended day teaching assignment.
 - 5. The staff member selected for the extended day teaching assignment may request to team-teach with another staff member(s). The request must be submitted in writing and approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee. The staff members will be paid equal shares of the \$130 per day as compensation.
 - 6. Oakland Schools reserves the right to discontinue or cancel an extended day program if the class does not comply with established criteria for extended day classes.
 - 7. In the event no qualified employee applies, Oakland Schools shall have the right to hire adjunct staff.

12.12 Custodians may request shift preferences for holiday breaks. Custodians may submit a request for shift preference ten (10) working days prior to the start of the holiday. The shift preferences will be considered by management provided at least two (2) custodians have agreed to work on the same shift, at the same campus.

ARTICLE 13 - PAID LEAVES

- 13.1 At the beginning of each school year, full-time teachers and instructional technicians will be credited with eleven (11) leave days. At the beginning of each fiscal year, full-time, 52-week employees will, after completion of 90 calendar days of employment, be credited with thirteen (13) leave days. Unused leave days shall accumulate without limit. Leaves of absence with pay chargeable against the employee's accumulated leave day allowance shall be granted annually for the following reasons:
 - a. Personal illness of the employee.
 - b. Illness in the immediate family of the employee if it is necessary to attend to the needs of the individual who is ill.
 - c. Up to three (3) days per year shall be allowed for personal business as provided in 13.3.
 - d. Routine health examinations and dental appointments which might be scheduled during off-duty hours or vacation periods shall not be covered by this article.
- 13.2 Other less than 52-week employees will be credited with accumulated leave days on a prorata basis, after completion of 90 calendar days of employment.
- 13.3 No personal business days will be granted during the students' first day of school or during the last five (5) days of the school year, or the employee's first or last workday, the day preceding or following a recess period (i.e., holiday or vacation) or on a scheduled inservice day. Personal business time is time which may be used for personal business requiring absence from duty during regular working hours. Examples of valid types of personal business include a required court appearance, legal and professional business, temporary care of children at home, to be with family members in time of crisis and religious holidays. Personal business day requests can be denied if there are too many requests within the same classification and building on any given day. As a general rule, a maximum of 10% of a building's teachers and 10% of a building's instructional technicians can be granted personal business time on any instructional day. Requests for personal business must be turned in to the Dean at least five (5) days in advance, except when such timely notice is not possible.

- 13.4 In the event of the death of an employee's, spouse, children, parents, mother/father-in-law, brother, sister, grandparents, grand children, brother/sister-in-law or any person living in the same household, the employee will be given up to three (3) days funeral leave between the date of death and the day following the funeral. Up to two (2) additional funeral leave days, deducted from the employee's accumulated leave bank, may be granted. If the employee has no accumulated leave, additional days granted shall be without pay.
- 13.5 An employee required by subpoena to appear in court to give testimony in any case connected with the employee's employment with Oakland Schools, will receive regular, straight-time rate of pay (exclusive of any premiums), provided such appearance is not brought about by an illegal and/or negligent action on the part of the teacher or by an action against the Board by the Association or employee.
- 13.6 An employee who is called to jury duty shall continue to receive his/her daily rate of pay for each day the employee is required to report for jury duty. There shall be no loss of accumulated leave days. In order to receive continued pay, the employee must turn in (and assign to Oakland Schools) jury duty fees (excluding travel allowance) paid by the court.
- 13.7 In the event of a questionable absence on the part of an employee(s), the employee shall, upon request, provide the Superintendent, or his/her designee, with written certification substantiating the need for such absence. Proof of illness may also be required for an absence due to illness/injury in excess of five (5) workdays.
- 13.8 Any employee who is absent because of an injury or illness compensable under the Michigan Workers' Compensation Act will receive the difference between the allowance under the Act and his/her regular base pay for a period of time that funds from his/her accumulated sick leave will provide (i.e., until he/she exhausts his/her accumulated sick leave). Said employee will have his/her applicable health, life, vision and dental insurance continued by Oakland Schools for a period of time equal to his/her seniority up to a maximum of four (4) months.
- 13.9 Administrative Supplemental Emergency Leave. Full-time employees with one (1) or more years of seniority may be eligible for Supplemental Emergency Leave under conditions established by Oakland Schools in the Administrative Supplemental Emergency Leave Guidelines. It is understood that the granting of Supplemental Emergency Leave is at the sole discretion of the Superintendent, or his/her designee, whose decision shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure. Oakland Schools agrees to notify and discuss with the Association President any proposed changes of the Administrative Supplemental Emergency Leave Leave Guidelines prior to implementation.

ARTICLE 14 - UNPAID LEAVES

- 14.1 Application for leaves under this Article shall be in writing filed with the Superintendent of Schools. All discretionary leaves under this Article must be approved by the Superintendent. The decision of the Superintendent shall be final. The granting of any such leaves will not establish a precedent for other such requests for the same leave.
- 14.2 A leave of absence of up to two (2) years may be granted to any tenure teacher for the purpose of participating in exchange teaching programs in other states, territories or counties, foreign or military teaching programs. Upon return, the teacher shall be placed at the same position on the salary schedule as he/she would have had he/she taught at Oakland Schools during such period.
- 14.3 Military leaves shall be granted in accordance with state and federal law. The employee's return rights shall also be governed by state and federal law. Seniority shall accrue during this leave.
- 14.4 A leave of absence for one (1) school year or the term of office, whichever is longer, may be granted to an employee for the purpose of campaigning for, or serving in, an elected public office.
- 14.5 A personal leave of absence of up to one (1) year may be granted to any tenure teacher/seniority employee.
- 14.6 An unpaid leave of absence shall be granted to an employee for purposes of serving as an officer of the State or National Association. Seniority shall accrue during the leave. Upon return from such leave, the employee will be placed at the same position on the salary schedule as if the employee had worked in Oakland Schools.
- 14.7 A teacher or seniority non-teacher who is unable to work because of personal illness or disability and who has exhausted all sick leave available shall, upon written application filed prior to the exhaustion of sick days, with periodic supporting medical documentation, be granted a health leave of absence for up to one (1) year. (See Article 26, Sections 26.5 and 26.6 for eligibility for short and long-term disability benefits.)
- 14.8 A leave of absence of up to one (1) year may be granted to any employee for the purpose of child care. Request for such leave shall be made at least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement date of the requested leave.

- 14.9 All leaves under this Article shall be without pay or benefits, and seniority shall not accrue during an unpaid leave of absence nor shall salary increments accrue unless otherwise provided under FMLA or elsewhere in this agreement. Subject to FMLA provisions, an employee on unpaid leave may elect to continue his/her group health insurance for up to one (1) year by prepaying quarterly the applicable premium for such insurance. Paid leave days shall not accrue during an unpaid leave, but unused paid leave time held at the start of the leave shall be restored upon return to work, except as otherwise provided for in this Article.
- 14.10 Intent of a teacher or instructional technician to return for the following school year from a leave under this Article shall be submitted in writing to the Superintendent of Schools by April 1st. Absent compelling extenuating circumstances, failure to submit a timely notice of intent to return within the time limit shall be deemed a resignation
- 14.11 Except as otherwise provided under FMLA, tenure teachers granted a leave under this article will have return rights for the following school year, unless they would otherwise have been laid-off pursuant to the provisions of Article 23.2. Other seniority employees granted a leave under this Article shall have a right to return to their previous position if they return within twelve (12) weeks following their last day of work. After twelve (12) weeks, they shall have return rights to their previous classification, pursuant to the provisions of Article 23.
- 14.12 An employee who meets the qualifications of the Family and Medical Leave Act may request a leave of up to twelve (12) weeks. All conditions of Oakland Schools FMLA Policy will apply. This leave may be requested for the following reasons:
 - a. The birth or care of a child.
 - b. The adoption or foster care of a child.
 - c. The care of a spouse, son, daughter or parent, if such individual has a serious health condition.
 - d. A serious health condition of an employee which disables him/her from performing the functions of his/her position. Such a condition may be an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves in-patient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical facility, or requires continuing treatment by a health-care provider (M.D. or D.O.).
- 14.13 Leave granted pursuant to any section of this article shall count toward leave to which the employee may be entitled under the FMLA.

An employee must first use all paid leave time (i.e., vacation, sick leave or other available time) for FMLA leaves under Paragraphs 14.12 (c) and (d) above. An employee must first use vacation and other available leave time, excluding sick leave, for FMLA leaves under Paragraphs 14.12 (a) and (b) above.

14.14 When an employee is on an approved leave of absence for more than five (5) consecutive workdays in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act or due to the employee's own medical condition, the Employer will develop a staffing plan to cover the leave period for support services that may include a substitute and/or voluntary overtime.

ARTICLE 15 - SABBATICAL

- 15.1 Teachers who have completed seven (7) years of service may apply for a sabbatical leave for study and research. Such sabbatical leaves shall be in recognition of significant service through teaching which contributes to the professional effectiveness of members of the staff and the value of their service to Oakland Schools.
- 15.2 A sabbatical leave may be granted for one (1) semester or one (1) full year. However, no more than one (1) teacher may be on sabbatical leave at any one time. Each teacher on sabbatical leave shall receive one-half (1/2) of his/her entitled salary for a full year's sabbatical or one-quarter (1/4) of his/her annual salary for a semester leave and will be given his/her regular increment and Oakland Schools will continue Health, Life, Dental and Vision insurance if the teacher chooses to continue such coverage. Seniority shall accrue while on sabbatical leave. A teacher on sabbatical leave shall not render service for compensation in another educational institution. This shall not preclude the acceptance of a fellowship or other assistance in research.
- 15.3 Application for a sabbatical leave shall be made in writing no later than the end of the first semester preceding the school year for which the leave is desired. The application must be accompanied by a statement of well-conceived plan for spending the leave in a manner calculated to contribute to the professional effectiveness of the applicant and to the best interests of the Oakland Schools. Said application shall contain a detailed analysis of the program the individual teacher plans to pursue during his/her sabbatical absence. No changes in this program shall be made without the consent and knowledge of the Board.
- 15.4 A teacher who takes an approved sabbatical leave must return to Oakland Schools for a minimum of two (2) years immediately following such leave. On return from sabbatical leave, every effort will be made to place the teacher in his/her former position. Placement on the salary schedule shall be as though the teacher had worked in Oakland Schools for the period of the sabbatical.

- 15.5 Upon acceptance of his/her sabbatical leave, a teacher shall sign a promissory note with the Board in the amount of the sabbatical stipend to be granted by the Board. Said promissory note may be redeemed by the teacher in one of the two following manners:
 - 1. In the event said teacher does not return to the employ of the School District at the conclusion of the sabbatical leave, said teacher shall repay to the Board all money advanced by the Board during his/her sabbatical leave. At the option of the teacher, this note may be redeemed over a three (3) year period.
 - 2. Said teacher may, by returning to the employ of the Board, redeem said promissory note by teaching for two (2) years. Said promissory note is paid at the end of the first year of teaching by the teacher in the event the teacher ceases employment at the end of the one (1) year following the sabbatical by paying one-half (1/2) of the sabbatical stipend. This amount may be repaid over a one (1) year period. By completing the second full year of teaching, the promissory note will be considered paid in full.

ARTICLE 16 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

16.1 An employee or group of employees or the Association claiming that there has been a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement may process the claim as a grievance as hereinafter provided, which procedure shall be the sole and exclusive method of resolving grievances as defined above.

The term "day" in this article means workdays.

- 16.2 <u>Informal Step</u>. Prior to the initiation of the formal Grievance Procedure, an employee shall discuss the problem with his/her immediate supervisor. Every effort shall be made to resolve the matter informally. Such resolution shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.
- 16.3 <u>Step One</u>. In the event the problem is not resolved informally, the grievance shall be reduced to writing utilizing the Grievance Form set forth in Appendix D and presented to the Director of Human Resources. The Director of Human Resources shall designate an Administrator to respond to the grievance. The written grievance must be filed within fifteen (15) days after the event or occurrence which is the basis of the grievance. The Administrator designated by the Director of Human Resources shall answer the grievance in writing with a copy to the Building Representative and Director of Human Resources within five (5) days of receipt of the written grievance.
- 16.4 <u>Step Two</u>. In the event the employee is not satisfied with the Administrator's disposition at Step One, the grievance shall be appealed to the appropriate Deputy Superintendent,

with a copy to the Director of Human Resources, within ten (10) days of the Administrator's response in Step One. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the written grievance, the Deputy Superintendent, shall meet with the grievant, and his/her Association Representative, in an effort to resolve the grievance. The Deputy Superintendent, shall indicate his/her disposition of the grievance in writing within ten (10) days of such meeting with a copy to the Association President.

- 16.5 <u>Step Three</u>. In the event the employee is not satisfied with the Deputy Superintendent's disposition of the grievance, the grievance shall be appealed to the Superintendent within ten (10) days of the Step Two response. Within ten (10) days, the Superintendent, or his/her designee, shall meet with the Grievant, and his/her Association Representative(s). The Superintendent (or his/her designee) shall indicate his/her disposition of the grievance in writing within ten (10) days of such meeting with a copy to the Association President.
- 16.6 <u>Step Four</u>. If the grievance is not settled in Step Three, the Association may, within twenty (20) days after receipt of the written decision, submit the grievance to arbitration. The demand for arbitration shall be made by written notice delivered to the Superintendent. Within ten (10) days following receipt of the notice to arbitrate, the Association and Oakland Schools shall either mutually agree to one of the arbitrators from the panel below or select one of the arbitrators from the panel below by blind draw.

The arbitrators on the panel shall be:

Barry Brown C. Keith Groty Ann Patton Mario Chiesa

Multiple grievances may not be submitted at the same time to the same arbitrator except by mutual agreement.

16.7 <u>Arbitration</u>.

The arbitrator:

- A. Shall conduct the hearing under the Rules of the American Arbitration Association.
- B. Shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, nor substitute his/her judgment for that of the Board where the Board is given discretion by the terms of this Agreement.

- C. Shall have no power to establish salary scales or change any salary, unless it is found that an employee has been improperly placed on the existing salary schedule.
- D. Shall have no power to rule on the termination of services or failure to re-employ any employee to a position on the extra-curricular schedule, except as otherwise provided in Article 5, Section 5.6.
- E. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other.
- F. No back pay or financial claim shall be awarded more than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the date the written grievance is field.
- 16.8 If a grievance arises in more than one building, or if a grievance is initiated by the Association, it shall be transmitted, in writing, directly to the appropriate Deputy Superintendent, with a copy to the Director of Human Resources, at Step Two.
- 16.9 All meetings concerning grievances are to take place at reasonable times and will not interfere with the assigned duties unless said meetings are called by school administration, Board or arbitrator. The Grievant shall be released from his/her responsibilities to be present at arbitration with no loss of pay upon the request of either party. Reasonable efforts will be made to accommodate the availability of the parties and their respective representatives.
- 16.10 No reprisals of any kind will be taken against any employee who has taken part in a grievance procedure.
- 16.11 The time limits set forth shall be strictly observed but may be extended with mutual written agreement of the Association President and the Superintendent or his/her designee. Failure of the Board or its representatives to render a decision within the time limit set forth above shall automatically move the grievance to the next step in the procedure. Failure to proceed with any grievance within the time limits set forth above shall result in dismissal of the grievance.
- 16.12 When a grievance is reduced to writing, the written statement shall clearly specify:
 - 1. The name or names of the aggrieved person or persons or otherwise designate the employees involved (e.g., all instructional technicians).
 - 2. The specific section of the Agreement allegedly violated.
 - 3. A statement of the alleged violation.
 - 4. When this alleged violation occurred.
 - 5. The proposed remedy or remedies for resolution of the grievance.

- 16.13 All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the building and personnel files of the participant(s).
- 16.14 Each year, the Association shall furnish the Director of Human Resources with the names of its Association Building Representatives and alternates, Association officers and Association staff and any such changes as may occur from time to time in such personnel, so that the Board may at all times be advised as to the authority of the individual representatives of the Association with whom it may be dealing. Until the Board has received such written notice from the Association, it shall not recognize or deal with any employee purporting to be a representative of the Association. The Association shall have the right to appoint an Association Building Representative from each campus (and alternative(s) to act in the absence of the Building Representative).
- 16.15 Any grievance which arises prior to the effective date of this Agreement shall not be processed under this Agreement.
- 16.16 Failure to re-employ or the termination of services of any probationary employee shall not be the basis for a grievance.

ARTICLE 17 - RIGHTS OF THE ASSOCIATION

- 17.1 The Board shall grant the Association use of school buildings for professional Association meetings. Use of the building shall be at reasonable hours outside of the employee's work hours. Arrangements for use of the building shall be made through the School Dean. Use of an available room during the school day by Association Representatives using Association days under Section 17.8 is permitted, however, when arrangements are made through the School Dean. No rental fee shall be charged the Association. All requests for building use after 5:00 p.m. or on non-school days will conform to applicable Oakland School Policy.
- 17.2 There will be a bulletin board designated within each school for use of the Association. The bulletin board shall be in the lounge of the respective school buildings. Association notices and materials posted or distributed shall bear the initials of an Association Representative.
- 17.3 The Association shall be allowed to use the inter-school mail service as permitted under applicable law and employee mailboxes for communication to employees.
- 17.4 The Board agrees to make available all available information to the Association in response to reasonable requests concerning the financial resources of the District, annual financial reports and audits, tentative budgetary requirements, agendas and minutes of all Board

meetings, membership data, names and addresses of all employees and such other necessary information as will assist the Association in developing intelligent, accurate, informed and constructive programs on behalf of the employees.

- 17.5 Duly authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact official Association business on school property at reasonable times, providing said business shall not interfere with or interrupt or affect normal school operations or assigned duties. Only authorized Association representatives not housed in that building must report to the Dean or his/her designees before consulting with any employee. It is understood that no Association business will be discussed in the presence of students.
- 17.6 Copies of the Master Agreement shall be printed at the expense of the Board and presented to all Association members currently employed within sixty (60) days after the Agreement is signed. Copies of the Agreement shall be provided to members hereafter employed by the Board at the time of their hire. The Board shall furnish thirty (30) copies of the Master Agreement to the Association for its use.
- 17.7 The Board shall make available to the Association information necessary to process a grievance.
- 17.8 Oakland Schools will allow Association Representatives time off to attend State and/or National Association workshops, conferences, conventions and other activities up to eighteen (18) days per school year; provided, no more than two employees may be gone from the same campus at any one time, unless otherwise agreed by the Superintendent or his/her designee. Application for use of said days, signed by the Association President, must be turned in to the Superintendent or his/her designee at least ten (10) workdays in advance.

In addition, Oakland Schools will allow the Association President up to twenty (20) Association days per year to be used in half-day increments. Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, these days shall be utilized on Friday afternoons.

- 17.9 The Association may apply for an unpaid leave of absence for the Association President in accordance with the provisions of Article 14, Unpaid Leaves, provided seniority and salary increments shall accrue during said leave. Said application must be filed at least sixty (60) days prior to the start of the school year.
- 17.10 Membership insignia or pins appropriate for normal wear may be worn by members of the Association.
- 17.11 The local Association, recognizing its professional responsibilities, agrees to use its influence to encourage employees who are members of the local Association to perform loyal and efficient work and service, to improve their efficiency, to utilize their time and

all equipment furnished by Oakland Schools to the best advantage, to protect Oakland School's property and interest, and to cooperate with the Administration in promoting the welfare of Oakland Schools and improving its service.

17.12 The Association shall have the right to use office equipment such as computer, typewriter, fax, copy machine, calculator, other duplicating equipment and audio/visual equipment at reasonable times outside of normal work hours with approval of the Dean or his/her designee. Use of such equipment shall not interfere with the instructional program or administrative needs. The Association shall pay the actual cost of any supplies used.

ARTICLE 18 - CONTRACT MAINTENANCE COMMITTEE

- 18.1 A joint contract maintenance committee shall be formed. The Committee shall consist of four members appointed by the Union and four members appointed by the Superintendent. The President of the Union and the Director of Human Resources shall be among the appointed members.
- 18.2 The Committee shall meet in October, December, February and May, unless otherwise mutually agreed.
- 18.3 Agenda items will be jointly compiled at least ten (10) workdays prior to the scheduled meeting. Agenda items which do not involve contract maintenance issues will only be included by mutual agreement of the Association President and the Director of Human Resources. Issues may be referred back to the Site Quality Council for review.
- 18.4 The OTCEA Uniserv/Executive Director may attend as an ex officio member.

ARTICLE 19 - AGENCY SHOP

- 19.1 Membership in the Association is not compulsory. Employees have the right to join or not join, as they see fit.
- 19.2 An employee who is a member of the Association, or who has applied for membership, may sign an assignment authorizing deduction of membership dues of the Association, including the National Education Association (NEA) and the Michigan Education Association (MEA). Such authorization shall continue in effect from year-to-year unless revoked in writing between June 1st and September 1st of any year.
- 19.3 An employee who is not a member of the Association or who does not make application for membership within thirty (30) days from the date of his/her employment shall, as a condition of employment, pay a fee to the Association equal in amount to membership dues

payable to the Association, including the NEA and MEA, as permitted by applicable law, provided, however, that the employee may authorize a payroll deduction for such fee. In the event the employee does not pay such fee directly to the Association or authorize payment through payroll deductions, the Board shall, pursuant to MCLA 408.477; MSA 17.277(7), at the written request of the Association, deduct the service fee from the employee's pay.

- 19.4 Payroll deduction of dues/fees for the year shall be made in twenty (20) equal amounts (as nearly as possible) starting with the second pay in the new school year and continuing biweekly thereafter through the twenty (20) paydays, provided said authorization has been received at least five (5) workdays prior to the pay period ending date. Deductions for employees employed after the first pay shall be prorated for complete payment by the following June.
- 19.5 The Board shall remit the authorized deductions for membership dues/agency fee to the Association within ten (10) business days from the date of each deduction. The remittance shall include a list of employees for whom deductions have been made and the amount deducted.
- 19.6 Prior to August 15th of each school year, the Association will certify to the Board, in writing, the rate of the combined Association dues, i.e., Local (OTCEA), State (MEA) and National (NEA) or applicable agency fee permitted under applicable law for said school year.
- 19.7 The Association agrees promptly to advise the Board of all members of the Association in good standing from time to time and to furnish any other information needed by the Board to fulfill the provisions of this Article, and not otherwise available to the Board.
- 19.8 In the event of any action against the Board brought in a court or administrative agency because of its compliance with provisions of Article 19 of this Agreement, the Association agrees to defend such action, at its own expense and through its own counsel.
- 19.9 The Association agrees that in any action so defended it will indemnify and hold harmless the Board and administration from any liability for damages and costs imposed by a final judgment of a court or administrative agency as a consequence of the Board's compliance with the provisions of Article 19.
- 19.10 For the life of this agreement, in addition to Association dues set forth in 19.6, the District will also deduct authorized PAC contributions in equal amounts on a bi-weekly basis or in one lump sum. The amount of such contribution must be certified to the Board at least fifteen (15) days prior to becoming effective, the amount of the contributions shall not change during said school year. This Section shall not be utilized or enforced unless a

court of competent jurisdiction finds that such a provision is not contrary to law, and in such event, shall be utilized and enforced in accordance with the court's decision.

ARTICLE 20 - BOARD RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

- 20.1 Except as modified by the specified terms of this Agreement, the Board shall retain all rights and power to manage the Oakland Intermediate School District and the Vocational-Technical Programs, and to direct its employees. The Association recognizes these Board rights as conferred by the laws of the Constitution of the State of Michigan and inherent in the Board's responsibility to manage the Intermediate School District, including, but not expressly limited to, the right:
 - 1. To the executive management and administrative control of the Intermediate District and its Vocational Technical Program, and its properties and facilities, including the right to determine the number and location of buildings, campuses/centers, and vocational-technical programs, and the school activities of its employees during the employees' working hours.
 - 2. To hire all employees and, subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, or their dismissal or demotion, and to promote and transfer all such employees.
 - 3. To establish levels and courses of instruction after consultation with the appropriate members of the teaching staff, to establish special programs, and to provide for programs and events for students, all as deemed necessary and advisable by the Board.
 - 4. To provide and approve the selection of textbooks, teaching materials and aids necessary for an adequate instructional program after consultation with the appropriate members of the teaching staff.
 - 5. To determine class schedules after considering the needs of the teachers and the program, to determine hours of instruction, and the duties, responsibilities and assignments of teacher subject to the express provisions of this Agreement.
- 20.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Board, the adoption of policies, rules and regulations in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 21 - SENIORITY

- 21.1 Oakland Schools seniority (i.e., service) shall be defined to mean the length of continuous service with Oakland Schools from an employee's most recent date-of-hire. Classification seniority shall be defined as the date on which an employee first began working in a given classification (other than on a temporary basis), provided, however, non-teaching staff shall have worked 90 days in the classification to establish classification seniority. Neither type of seniority shall accrue for unpaid leaves unless set forth in Article 14. A separate classification seniority list will be maintained for employees in each classification in the bargaining unit. All employees shall be ranked on the list in order of their classification seniority.
- 21.2 Employees from Clarkston, Pontiac, Royal Oak and Walled Lake will be credited with their full length of service from their respective school districts for purposes of Oakland Schools seniority and full length of service in their current classification with respect to classification seniority. This shall only apply to said employees hired prior to July 1, 2000.
- 21.3 No bargaining unit employee in a position other than as a teacher shall be granted continuing tenure in such position by virtue of this Agreement or any individual contract of employment, but shall only be able to gain tenure as a classroom teacher.
- 21.4 Teachers who are covered by the Michigan Teacher Tenure Act shall be subject to a probationary period as set forth in said Act. Teachers from Clarkston, Pontiac, Royal Oak and Walled Lake who have tenure with their respective district as of June 30, 2000, and who become Oakland Schools employees on July 1, 2000, will be automatically granted tenure as a classroom teacher with Oakland Schools and shall not be required to serve a probationary period with Oakland Schools.

Teachers from Clarkston, Pontiac, Royal Oak and Walled Lake who do not have tenure with their respective districts as of June 30, 2000, and who become Oakland Schools employees on July 1, 2000, will be credited with the time spent in their respective district toward the required four (4) year probationary period.

21.5 Professional staff who are not covered by the provisions of the Michigan Teachers Tenure Act (which excludes those outlined in Section 21.6 below), shall be subject to a probationary period of four (4) years of service with Oakland Schools during which time they shall be considered probationary or non-tenure teachers under the terms of this Agreement. 21.6 Non-teaching staff shall be subject to a probationary period of ninety (90) days of work with Oakland Schools.

Non-teachers from Clarkston, Pontiac, Royal Oak and Walled Lake who have not completed their probationary period in their respective district and who become Oakland Schools employees on July 1, 2000, will be credited with time worked in their respective district toward the ninety (90) days of work probationary period.

- 21.7 An employee shall be terminated and lose his/her seniority rights if he/she:
 - a. Quits.
 - b. Is discharged and not reinstated.
 - c. Is absent without a reasonable excuse for three (3) consecutive workdays without notice to the Board of such excuse within the three (3) days, if possible.
 - d. Fails to return from a leave of absence at the designated time, without a reasonable excuse.
 - e. Fails to report for work from recall from layoff within the time provided without a reasonable excuse.
- 21.8 When an employee in the bargaining unit moves to a position with Oakland Schools outside the bargaining unit, his/her classification seniority will be frozen. If the person is returned to the bargaining unit by Oakland Schools, said frozen classification seniority will reactivate.

ARTICLE 22 - MISCELLANEOUS

- 22.1 Employees shall be advised of a telephone number to call when it is not possible for them to report to work because of illness or other factors. Employees must call the designated number at least two (2) hours prior to the start of their workday or as soon as circumstances permit to report their absence or tardiness and the reason for the absence or tardiness.
- 22.2 Any individual contract between the Board and an individual employee, heretofore executed, shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and any individual contract hereafter executed shall be expressly made subject to and consistent with the terms of this or subsequent agreements to be executed by the parties. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

- 22.3 This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations, or practices of the Board, which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with its terms.
- 22.4 This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitments between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the parties in a written and signed amendment to this Agreement.
- 22.5 All supplemental agreements shall be subject to ratification by the Board and the Association within thirty (30) days of tentative agreement.
- 22.6 If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees, the Board, and/or representatives, shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provision or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- 22.7 It shall be the responsibility of each employee to have a current address and telephone number on file with Oakland Schools and to promptly notify Oakland Schools of any change in address or phone number. The employee's address and telephone number as it appears in the Oakland School records shall be conclusive when used in connection with layoff, recall or other notices to employees.
- 22.8 While it is recognized that the decision whether or not to contract or subcontract for services and the impact of the contracting on bargaining unit employees is within the sole authority of Oakland Schools, Oakland Schools agrees to discuss the matter with the Association prior to any final action of Oakland Schools.
- 22.9 Oakland Schools may, at its discretion, require employees to submit to physical and medical tests and examinations by an Oakland Schools appointed doctor/physician when such tests and examinations are considered necessary to Oakland Schools in maintaining a capable workforce, employee health and safety, etc. Before requiring such a test/examination, Oakland shall meet with the employee and the Union and explain the need. Oakland will pay the costs of such tests and examinations.
- 22.10 Before recommending to the Board to eliminate an existing program which would result in the lay off of bargaining unit members, the Administration will:
 - 1. Provide reasonable notice that a program closure may occur.
 - 2. Solicit input from the staff in a timely manner.
 - 3. Discuss the matter with the affected cluster group; and
 - 4. Discuss the matter with representatives of the Association at the Contract Maintenance Committee.

ARTICLE 23 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 23.1 Before the Board takes official action on a reduction of employees, it will give notice in writing to the Association President of the contemplated reduction. Proposed reductions in employees shall be discussed with the Association prior to Board action. The names of employees to be laid-off will be provided to the Association prior to the official action of the Board.
- 23.2 In the event teachers are laid-off from employment by Oakland Schools, then the teachers with the most teacher classification seniority who are qualified to fill the positions kept active shall be retained, provided, however:
 - a. No probationary employee will be retained and a tenure teacher's services discontinued if such tenure teacher has the required certification, authorization or license to fill the position held by the probationary teacher.
 - b. Laid-off teachers shall be recalled in order of their seniority, the ones having the most seniority being recalled first, provided they are qualified to fill the vacant position. Notification of recall shall be in writing by certified mail to the teacher's last known address, with a copy to the Association President. Except as provided in Paragraph 4 below, unless a teacher accepts an offer of re-employment, in writing, within fifteen (15) days from date of receipt of notification, the teacher shall have no further rights of reinstatement and shall be considered a voluntary quit.
 - c. Oakland Schools will give at least thirty (30) days notice before laying off a teacher. In the event a teacher is laid-off at the end of the school year, Oakland Schools will continue to pay the applicable health, life, vision and dental insurance premiums paid by Oakland Schools for the months of July, August and September. For layoffs which may occur during the course of a school year, Oakland Schools will continue to pay the applicable health, life, vision and dental insurance premiums paid by Oakland Schools for three (3) months following the date of layoff.
 - d. If a probationary teacher is laid-off for more than the length of his/her seniority at time of layoff, or if a tenure teacher is laid-off for more than five years, his/her seniority shall be broken and he/she shall have no further recall rights.
 - e. For purposes of this Section 23.2, qualified shall be defined as having the required certification, authorization or license to fill the position in question.
 - f. If a teacher is recalled during the school year and is under contract with another Michigan school district, he/she may decline recall without relinquishing rights to be recalled for the following school year in the event of another vacancy. Once a laid-

off teacher has declined recall, Oakland Schools will no longer be required to consider the teacher for recall until the terms of the teacher's one year contractual commitment to the other District has expired.

- g. A teacher who is laid-off shall, at the time of layoff, have the right to displace the least senior instructional technician in their subject area/cluster, provided the teacher has more instructional technician classification seniority than said least senior instructional technician.
- 23.3 In the event instructional technicians are laid-off from employment by Oakland Schools, then the instructional technicians with the most classification seniority who are qualified as measured by prior satisfactory work experience in the subject area/cluster in question to fill the positions kept active, shall be retained.
 - a. Oakland Schools will give at least thirty (30) days notice before layoff. Oakland Schools will continue to pay the applicable health, life, vision and dental insurance premiums paid by Oakland Schools for three months following the date of layoff.
 - b. An instructional technician who is laid-off from the instructional technician classification shall, at the time of layoff, have the right to displace the least senior employee in another non-teacher classification where the laid-off instructional technician has more classification seniority than said least senior, provided he/she has the ability to perform the available work and has prior satisfactory work experience in the classification.
 - c. Instructional technicians who are laid-off shall be recalled to their subject area/cluster in reverse order of layoff (i.e., the most senior being recalled to the first opening, etc.).
 - d. In the event of recall, notice of recall shall be by certified mail to the last recorded address of the employee as it appears on the records of Oakland Schools with a copy to the Association President. Upon failure to report within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice, the employee shall be considered to have voluntarily quit with no further recall rights.
- 23.4 In the event other employees (excluding teachers and instructional technicians) are laid-off from employment by Oakland Schools, layoff shall be by job classification starting with the least senior.
 - a. Oakland Schools will give at least thirty (30) days notice before layoff. Oakland Schools will continue to pay the applicable health, life, vision and dental insurance premiums paid by Oakland Schools for three months following the date of layoff.

- b. An employee who is laid-off from his/her classification shall, at the time of layoff, have the right to displace the least senior employee in another non-teacher classification where the laid-off employee has more classification seniority than said least senior, provided he/she has the ability to perform the available work and has prior satisfactory work experience in the classification.
- c. Employees who are laid-off shall be recalled to the classification from which laid-off in reverse of layoff (i.e., the most senior shall be recalled to the first opening, etc.).
- d. In the event of recall, notice of recall shall be by certified mail to the last recorded address of the employee as it appears on the records of Oakland Schools with a copy to the Association President. Upon failure to report within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice, the employee shall be considered to have voluntarily quit with no further recall rights.
- 23.5 A laid-off employee shall retain all seniority accumulated as of the effective date of layoff and seniority shall resume upon the first day worked following layoff.
- 23.6 If a non-teacher employee is laid-off for a period of the length of his seniority at time of layoff, or three years, whichever is less, his/her seniority shall be broken and he/she shall have no further recall rights.
- 23.7 In the event a program is discontinued at a campus, employees who are reassigned to other campuses as a result thereof, shall have the right to return to said campus in the event the program is reinstated within 12 months.

ARTICLE 24 -SHARED-TIME AND PART-TIME EMPLOYMENT

- 24.1 Shared-time employment shall be defined as two (2) teachers sharing one (1) position for which they are both certified and qualified. Any employee who wishes to participate in shared-time employment may do so on a voluntary basis.
- 24.2 Nothing in this Agreement shall restrict Oakland Schools from hiring employees for less than full-time positions. Salary and benefits for less than full-time employees shall be prorated in accordance with applicable Oakland Schools policy.
- 24.3 Those teachers interested in a shared-time position will forward a written request to the Director of Career-Focused Education and the Dean no later than March 1st of each school year. Said written request will include the following:
 - 1. The assignment to be shared, including the proposed work schedule;

- 2. Assignment(s) and campus;
- 3. Assignment coverage, to include (if applicable) prep time, lunch, staff meetings, parent-teacher conferences, in-service, etc.
- 4. Fringe benefit selections; and
- 5. Other pertinent information.
- 24.4 The employees shall be notified of Oakland School's acceptance or rejection of their application by April 1st. It is understood and agreed by the parties that the final decision concerning shared-time employment requests is the sole prerogative of the Superintendent and his/her decision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 24.5 Employee participation in shared-time employment shall:
 - 1. Accrue seniority as a percentage of a full-time employee;
 - 2. Advance on the salary schedule (if applicable) as a percentage of full-time employee;
 - 3. Receive a pro rata share of the salary of their step and track;
 - 4. Receive a pro rata of leave days granted to full-time employees;
 - 5. Be eligible for a dollar amount up to one-half (1/2) of the insurance premiums cited in Article 28 based upon each shared-time employee's eligibility for said insurances. Shared-time employees may select the insurance coverage appropriate to their needs, providing they are eligible for said insurances and costs thereof does not exceed onehalf (1/2) of the total premiums. Shared-time employees may select a combination of insurances which exceed the one-half (1/2) premium payment limitation by prepaying the difference in cost per Business Office procedure. Said insurances (medical, dental, life, LTD and optical) are subject to the terms, conditions and approval of the respective carriers.
- 24.6 Shared-time employment applications and reapplications shall be made on annual basis. Employees who participate in shared-time employment and return to a full-time position shall return to full-time status for the subsequent school year consistent with their seniority and the provisions of Article 6.
- 24.7 Employees currently on the recall list or those who have been notified of layoff may participate in shared-time employment if there is no person with higher seniority who is certified and qualified to share the position and wishes to do so.
- 24.8 Shared-time and part-time teachers are required to attend parent/teacher conferences, open house, new student orientation and the fall and spring advisory. Shared-time and part-time teachers shall also attend full and half-day inservices but will be compensated on a pro-rata basis.

ARTICLE 25 - DISTANCE LEARNING

- 25.1 The parties agree that distance learning is a legitimate alternative for the delivery of instruction. Distance learning may include both supplemental instruction and course work foundations.
- 25.2 The Board shall have the right to contract with other districts, educational institutions or commercial services to provide remote instructional delivery.
- 25.3 Implementation of distance learning programs will be carefully planned and will take into account the need for appropriate facilities, equipment, staffing and training.

ARTICLE 26 - INSURANCE

- 26.1 Oakland Schools will pay the premiums as set forth below, to provide health care coverage for 12 months for full-time employees (and their eligible dependents) not otherwise covered by Oakland Schools or by another employer-paid medical-hospitalization plan who enroll in said program during the appropriate enrollment period. Less than full-time employees will be provided coverage on a pro-rated basis.
 - a. Effective July 1, 2007, the Board shall pay the premium for the MESSA Choices XVA2 Plan with the \$10/\$20 prescription drug plan. MESSA Super Care I Plan has been closed to all new hires and to anyone who switches to the Choices Plan. Those who continue to take Super Care I with the \$10/\$20 drug shall pay the difference between the Super Care 1 and the Choices Plan.
 - b. Effective July 1, 2008, the maximum monthly Board-paid premium for health insurance shall be: \$535.71 for single coverage; \$1,203.37 for two-person coverage; \$1,336.89 for family coverage. MESSA Super Care I Plan has been closed to all new hires and to anyone who switches to the Choices Plan. Those who continue on the Super Care I Plan, shall pay the greater of the difference between the maximum Board premium for Choices and the premium for Super Care I or the difference between the cost of Super Care I and Choices.
 - c. Effective July 1, 2009, the maximum monthly Board-paid premium for health insurance shall be: \$567.85 for single coverage; \$1,275.57 for two-person coverage; \$1,417.10 for family coverage.

MESSA Super Care I Plan has been closed to all new hires and to anyone who switches to the Choices Plan. Those who continue on the Super Care I Plan, shall pay the greater of the difference between the maximum Board premium for Choices and the premium for Super Care I or the difference between the cost of the Super Care I and Choices.

- d. To be eligible for health coverage, employees must sign the Disclaimer Form set forth in Appendix C, yearly.
- e. A Section 125 Plan (for health care up to a maximum of \$3,000) and for dependent care (up to maximum of \$5,000), shall be available.
- f. In lieu of health insurance, eligible employees may participate in the Oakland Schools opt-out plan.
- 26.2 Oakland Schools will pay the premiums to provide a Dental care program for regular, fulltime employees not otherwise covered by another dental plan, who enroll in the Oakland Schools plan. The Oakland Schools plan provides basic services at 80% of the reasonable and customary cost of the covered service with a maximum annual payment per eligible employee and eligible dependent of \$1,500. The basic services percentage will increase 10% each succeeding benefit year up to a maximum of 100% provided the covered individual visited a dentist for an examination at least once during the previous benefit year and the dentists' reasonable services were covered. Orthodontics benefits are paid at 80% of reasonable and customary cost of the service with a maximum lifetime benefit of \$1,500 for all eligible employees and their eligible dependents.
- 26.3 Oakland Schools shall pay the premiums to provide Group Term Life Insurance, including double indemnity Accidental Death and Dismemberment Riders, for regular, full-time employees who enroll in the plan. Said benefit level shall be one-times annual salary up to \$55,000 as set forth in the Group Term Insurance plan.
- 26.4 Oakland Schools shall pay the premiums to provide Vision Care coverage for regular, fulltime employees who enroll in the plan. Benefits shall be comparable to a VSP-II type plan.
- 26.5 Oakland Schools shall provide Short-Term Disability protection for regular, full-time employees who have personal illness or disability (which is not compensable under Michigan Workers' Compensation), providing the employee must use his/her individual sick leave days, if any, during the thirty (30) workday waiting period. Once the employee qualifies for short-term disability, the employee may supplement the short-term disability by using a pro-rata portion of his/her remaining individual sick leave not to exceed 100% of his/her base pay. Short-term disability payments shall be payable after a thirty (30) consecutive workday waiting period. Short-term disability payments shall be at the rate of sixty-seven percent (67%) of the employee's Schedule A base contract salary, at the time of disability, up to a maximum of \$5,000 per month. Said payments shall be for a maximum of ninety (90) calendar days from the date of illness or disability (exclusive of

summer vacation). There shall be no short-term disability payments made during the summer vacation period for less than 52-week employees. The summer vacation period is defined as the first day following the last workday at the end of the school year until the first workday at the start of the next school year.

- 26.6 Oakland Schools shall pay the premiums to provide Long-Term Disability insurance for regular, full-time employees who enroll in the program. Long-term disability insurance coverage shall mean income protection subject to the terms and conditions specified in the policy. Long-term disability payments shall be payable after a waiting period of ninety (90) calendar days from the initial date of personal illness or disability, providing the employee has exhausted all his/her individual sick leave benefits. The maximum monetary benefit for eligible teachers shall be \$5,000 per month. Said benefit shall be at the rate of sixty-seven percent (67%) of the employee's Schedule A base salary at the time of disability, reduced by the amount of any primary remuneration the employee is eligible to receive from the Board, the Michigan Public School Employee's Retirement Fund, the Federal Social Security Act, Veteran's benefits or other such pensions or workers' compensation. A nervous and mental rider shall be included. Said rider shall be limited to twenty-four (24) months.
- 26.7 An eligible employee who enrolls in the programs outlined above shall become insured on the first of the month following their first day of work (or completion of 90 calendar days of employment in the case of non-teachers), provided if the employee is away from work due to disability, illness, etc., on the date the insurance is to be effective, said employee will be insured upon return to active service.
- 26.8 Eligibility, coverage and benefits under all insurance plans in this article are subject to the terms and conditions, including any waiting period, contained in the applicable contracts between Oakland Schools and the carrier or provider. Any rebates or refunds on premiums paid by Oakland Schools shall accrue to Oakland Schools.

Oakland Schools shall have the right to select the carrier or provider, or to become selfinsured, and to change carriers or providers, provided comparable benefits are maintained.

- 26.9 The insurance coverages listed above shall be discontinued at the end of the month when the employee's services are terminated or the employee goes on any leave of absence without pay or is laid off (except as otherwise provided in Sections 13.8, 23.2 and 23.3), subject to applicable COBRA regulations.
- 26.10 By payment of the applicable premiums required to provide the benefits outlined in this Article, Oakland Schools shall be relieved from all liability with respect to coverage and benefits provided by the respective carrier.

26.11 It shall be the responsibility of the employee to enroll in the respective programs offered and to notify the Personnel Office of any change in his/her status with respect to eligibility for coverage.

ARTICLE 27 - NEW OR CHANGED JOBS

When a new job is placed in existence which cannot be properly placed in the existing classification and rate structure, or a new classification is established, or an existing classification is changed or combined with another classification, to the extent that materially different skills and responsibilities or qualifications are required, the Association will be notified in writing. Oakland Schools will, after written notice to the Association, establish a rate for the new classification, which shall be considered temporary for a period of thirty (30) days following the date of notification to the Association. Within ten (10) days following notification to the Union, the Union may request in writing a meeting with Oakland Schools to negotiate the rate and classification. If the matter is not resolved in the thirty (30) day period provided above, the Association may, within five (5) days following the expiration of the thirty (30) day period, file a written grievance at Step Three of the grievance procedure. If no written grievance is filed within the period specified herein, the rate shall become permanent at the end of such period.

ARTICLE 28 - COMPENSATION

28.1 The salary schedule for teachers is attached as Appendix A. Oakland Schools will also pay \$2,750 to be paid on a yearly basis to teachers on the Oakland Schools MA and MA+30 top step with 15 years or more of teaching service with Oakland Schools who successfully complete a yearly individual professional development plan approved by the Dean. The payment will not apply to any teacher whose salary has been grandfathered under Letter D, Paragraph 4. \$2,000 will be provided for teachers on the BA Schedule under the same conditions that apply to the MA payment.

To qualify for the payment set forth in this Paragraph 28.1, an eligible teacher must complete an individual professional development plan yearly. The plan must be in writing and approved by the Dean. Examples of the types of activities that can be approved are:

- > Industry-based internship or mentorship in the occupational cluster.
- Professional development through Oakland Schools or Distance Learning on academic authentic assessment, school improvement, quality schools, quality standards or other related areas.
- > Professional development relating to use of instructional technology.

- > Formal training in school leadership, independent study related to cluster development or quality improvement.
- > Advanced learning related to curricular development, instructional strategies, leadership skills and the like, designated to lead to specific program improvement for the cluster.
- 28.2 A newly-employed teacher may be given credit on the salary schedule set forth in Appendix A, at the discretion of the Superintendent, for outside teaching experience or related work experience.
- 28.3 Credit on the teacher salary schedule for an advanced degree shall be granted at the beginning of the semester following the recording of the advanced degree or receipt of verification from the college.
- 28.4 The salary schedule for instructional technicians is attached as Appendix B. Employees in the instructional technician classification shall be placed in based on applicable industry experience within the cluster and demonstrated achievement of required skill sets. In the event that an instructional technician substitutes for an absent teacher under circumstances in which a substitute would normally be provided, that instructional technician shall receive, in addition to his/her normal wage, a stipend of \$22.50 for each consecutive session after one (1) session that the instructional technician substitutes.
- 28.5 The salary schedule for office assistants is attached as Appendix B-2.
- 28.6 The salary schedule for custodians is attached as Appendix B-1.
 - a. A shift premium of twenty-five cents (\$.25) per hour will be paid to custodians assigned to work on an afternoon or midnight shift beginning on or after 3:00 p.m. This premium shall not apply to day shift employees working overtime.
 - b. Oakland Schools shall have the right to appoint a lead custodian in each building. A lead custodian shall receive a \$1.50 per hour additional pay stipend.
 - c. A custodian who is called in to work at unscheduled times or on his/her day off will be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at time and one-half. This is not intended to apply to an employee called-in to work prior to the start of his/her shift and who works continuously into their shift nor to an employee called-in to work a regular shift.
- 28.7 Nothing herein shall prevent Oakland Schools from hiring an employee above the start rate for any classification. It is also understood that the designation of a classification is not intended to designate job content or to restrict work assignments.

- 28.8 A less than 52-week employee who is laid-off at the end of the school year under the provisions of Article 23 and who is paid unemployment compensation benefits (associated with his/her regular assignment with Oakland Schools) during the summer immediately following the layoff or notice of layoff and who is subsequently recalled to a position the next school year will be paid according to an annual salary rate such that his/her unemployment compensation plus his/her annual salary rate will equal the rate of salary he/she would have earned for the school year had he/she not been laid off or notified of layoff.
- 28.9 Employees who provide 90 calendar days written notice of their separation from employment will receive \$70 per day for unused sick leave days accumulated with the District up to a maximum of 100 days and \$17.50 for all remaining unused sick leave days accumulated with the District. The notice requirement may be waived by the Superintendent if the employee experiences a major life event.

Employees who separate from employment with the District and do not provide 90 calendar days written notice will be paid for half of all their unused sick leave time accumulated with the District at the rate of \$35.00 per day at the time of separation from employment.

- 28.10 Counselors who are required by Oakland Schools to work additional days prior to the normal teacher starting day or after the last scheduled teacher workday at the end of the school year will be paid their regular daily rate for said additional days. Said additional days must be approved by the Director of Career Focused Education. The regular daily rate shall be determined by dividing the Counselors contract salary by the teacher days set forth in paragraph 8.1.
- 28.11 Teachers who teach a third instructional block will be compensated at the rate of \$130 per day for each day they teach the additional instructional block. The additional instructional block time shall be comparable to the instruction block time during the regular day program.
- 28.12 Effective September 1, 2005, full-time instructional technicians, custodians, and office assistants shall be eligible to receive a degree stipend as long as such a stipend is provided for Oakland Schools non-exempt non-represented staff. The stipend shall be an annual \$500 stipend for an associate's degree or \$1,000 for a bachelor's degree. The degrees must be from an accredited college or university. A copy of the diploma or transcript must be submitted to Human Resources. The payment shall be paid in equal installments on a bi-weekly basis starting the beginning of the second pay period following receipt of proof of degree and approved by the Human Resources Director. For example, an employee who submits proof of a bachelor's degree on December 31, 2005, will begin to receive the bi-weekly stipend starting with the second pay period after December 31, 2005, pro-rated for the balance of the 05/06 fiscal year. This provision shall not apply retroactively.

ARTICLE 29 - MENTORS

It shall be a professional responsibility of the staff at each Campus to see that there are enough qualified mentors. Mentors shall receive a stipend of \$400 per year for the first mentee and an additional \$200 for each additional mentee (limited to a total of three mentees). A list of duties is set forth in Appendix E.

ARTICLE 30 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement is effective as of November 20, 2007 and shall expire on June 30, 2010. This Agreement shall not be extended orally and it is expressly understood that it shall expire on the date set forth above unless mutually agreed to, in writing, by both parties.

OAKLAND SCHOOLS

Barbara DeMarco, Board President

Vickie Markavitch, Superintendent

OTCEA

David Johnson, President (OTCEA)

Dawn Roark, Secretary

APPENDIX A

Step	Non-Degree	Bachelor	Masters	Masters + 30
1	\$37,108	\$39,062	\$43,596	\$46,003
2	\$39,511	\$41,592	\$46,441	\$48,853
3	\$41,913	\$44,118	\$49,288	\$51,700
4	\$44,331	\$46,666	\$52,139	\$54,551
5	\$46,744	\$49,204	\$54,989	\$57,400
6	\$49,153	\$51,740	\$57,842	\$60,247
7	\$51,562	\$54,275	\$60,692	\$63,047
8	\$53,962	\$56,803	\$63,538	\$65,860
9	\$56,377	\$59,344	\$66,295	\$68,647
10	\$60,511	\$61,841	\$70,131	\$72,531
11		\$66,020	\$73,403	\$75,657
12			\$77,635	\$79,766
15*		\$68,055	\$80,433	\$82,564

TEACHER SALARIES 2007/2008 SCHOOL YEAR

* For illustrative purposes only. See Section 28.1.

Step	Non-Degree	Bachelor	Masters	Masters +30
1	\$37,757	\$39,746	\$44,359	\$46,808
2	\$40,202	\$42,320	\$47,254	\$49,708
3	\$42,646	\$44,890	\$50,151	\$52,605
4	\$45,107	\$47,483	\$53,051	\$55,506
5	\$47,562	\$50,065	\$55,951	\$58,405
6	\$50,013	\$52,645	\$58,854	\$61,301
7	\$52,464	\$55,225	\$61,754	\$64,150
8	\$54,906	\$57,797	\$64,650	\$67,013
9	\$57,364	\$60,383	\$67,455	\$69,848
10	\$61,570	\$62,923	\$71,358	\$73,800
11		\$67,175	\$74,688	\$76,981
12			\$78,994	\$81,162
15*		*\$69,175	*\$81,744	*\$83,912

TEACHER SALARIES 2008/09 SCHOOL YEAR

*For illustrative purposes only. See Section 28.1.

Step	Non-Degree	Bachelor	Masters	Masters +30
1	\$38,418	\$40,441	\$45,135	\$47,627
2	\$40,906	\$43,060	\$48,081	\$50,578
3	\$43,393	\$45,676	\$51,028	\$53,525
4	\$45,896	\$48,314	\$53,980	\$56,477
5	\$48,394	\$50,941	\$56,930	\$59,427
6	\$50,888	\$53,567	\$59,884	\$62,374
7	\$53,382	\$56,191	\$62,835	\$65,273
8	\$55,867	\$58,809	\$65,781	\$68,185
9	\$58,367	\$61,439	\$68,636	\$71,071
10	\$62,647	\$64,024	\$72,607	\$75,092
11		\$68,351	\$75,995	\$78,328
12			\$80,376	\$82,582
15*		*\$70,351	*\$83,126	*\$85,332

TEACHER SALARIES 2009/2010 SCHOOL YEAR**

*For illustrative purposes only. See Section 28.1.

- A.1 Extra-pay assignments in addition to the normal workday shall be made with the consent of the employee and shall be paid as set forth in Appendix A.5, below.
- A.2 Club sponsorships involving state or national organizations with leadership/technical skill training, such as OCCRA, SkillsUSA, HOSA, BPA, FFA, DECA and FIRST are considered directly related to the teaching assignment. While such assignments shall also be made with the consent of the employee, in the event no qualified employee volunteers, Oakland Schools can assign the least senior qualified teacher from the area/cluster in question from the campus (or campuses in the event the club covers more than one campus) to one such assignment in any year. If the least senior teacher is assigned a club sponsorship, the teacher shall not be required to put in more than 40 hours of time beyond the normal workday or work year, for any one such sponsorship per year, exclusive of State or National competitions. Further, no one teacher will be involuntarily assigned more than two consecutive years. Pay for club sponsorships shall be in accordance with Appendix A-3, below.

Guidelines for club sponsorship shall be developed by the Curriculum Advisory Committee and processed through the ISO development procedure. The guidelines will include the criteria, the appropriate application form and a summary report form. The final report will be reviewed and discussed with the Contract Maintenance Committee before it is implemented.

- A.3 A stipend of 2% of the BA minimum will be paid for approved club sponsorship. Such sponsorship must be approved in writing by the Dean in advance of the activity. The club must be organized with elected students as President, Secretary, Treasurer, etc. Only one stipend will be paid per club. If there is more than one participating teacher/instructional technician sponsor, the stipend will be divided equally among the sponsors. Each consecutive year that a teacher/instructional technician participates as a club sponsor in the same club, the 2% stipend will be based on the next step of the BA, to a maximum of Step 6. Stipends will be paid in May. In the case of SkillsUSA and FIRST Club sponsorships, additional \$100 stipends will be paid for each state and national competition (except for the SkillsUSA National Competition stipend which will be \$150 as set forth in the next sentence), plus reimbursement of all approved expenses, including meals, lodging and travel in accordance with Board Policy. In the case of SkillsUSA and HOSA National Competition, the stipend shall be \$150.
- A.4 Summer school teachers will be compensated at the rate of \$25 per class hour.
- A.5 Teachers performing other extra pay assignments outside of the normal workday will receive \$28 per hour.
- A.6 All extra pay duty understandings, including those in A-1, A-2 and A-3 covering services to be performed for more than a two-week period must be in writing and must be signed by the employee and the Director of Career-Focused Education, on an appropriate form. This must be done prior to commencement of the extra-pay duty.
- A.7 Employees voluntary participation in enrichment activities which promote learning in the classroom with student participation may apply for a \$125 stipend. Such application shall include an outline of the activities and estimated expenses, together with an estimate of the time involved beyond the normal workday/year. The application must be submitted in accordance with A.6 and must be approved, in advance, by the Director of Career Focused Education.

Steps	Α
1	\$14.37
2	\$14.81
3	\$15.74
4	\$16.56
5	\$17.51
6	\$18.43

APPENDIX B - INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNICIANS 2007/2008 SCHOOL YEAR

INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNICIANS 2008/2009 SCHOOL YEAR

Steps	Α
1	\$14.62
2	\$15.07
3	\$16.02
4	\$16.85
5	\$17.82
6	\$18.75

INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNICIAN 2009/2010 SCHOOL YEAR

Steps	Α
1	\$14.87
2	\$15.34
3	\$16.30
4	\$17.15
5	\$18.13
6	\$19.08

Steps	Custodian	With Shift Difference	Lead Custodian	Maintenance
Start	\$14.65	\$14.92	\$16.49	\$18.11
3 Months (90 Work Days)	\$15.18	\$15.45	\$17.01	\$18.45
1 Year	\$15.48	\$15.73	\$17.31	\$18.79
2 Years	\$15.75	\$16.01	\$17.58	\$19.14
3 Years	\$16.04	\$16.31	\$17.88	\$19.50
4 Years	\$16.35	\$16.61	\$18.17	\$19.81
5 Years	\$16.62	\$16.88	\$18.46	\$20.17

APPENDIX B-1 - CUSTODIANS/MAINTENANCE 2007/2008

CUSTODIANS/MAINTENANCE 2008/2009

Steps	Custodian	With Shift Difference	Lead Custodian	Maintenance
Start	\$14.91	\$15.18	\$16.78	\$18.43
3 Months (90 Work Days)	\$15.45	\$15.72	\$17.31	\$18.77
1 Year	\$15.75	\$16.01	\$17.61	\$19.12
2 Years	\$16.03	\$16.29	\$17.89	\$19.47
3 Years	\$16.32	\$16.60	\$18.19	\$19.84
4 Years	\$16.64	\$16.90	\$18.49	\$20.16
5 Years	\$16.91	\$17.18	\$18.78	\$20.52

Steps	Custodian	With Shift Difference	Lead Custodian	Maintenance
Start	\$15.17	\$15.44	\$17.08	\$18.75
3 Months (90 Work Days)	\$15.72	\$15.99	\$17.61	\$19.10
1 Year	\$16.02	\$16.29	\$17.92	\$19.46
2 Years	\$16.31	\$16.57	\$18.20	\$19.81
3 Years	\$16.60	\$16.89	\$18.51	\$20.18
4 Years	\$16.93	\$17.20	\$18.81	\$20.51
5 Years	\$17.20	\$17.48	\$19.11	\$20.88

CUSTODIANS/MAINTENANCE 2009/2010

APPENDIX	B-2 -	OFFICE	ASSISTANTS
	<u>20</u>	07/2008	

	Effective 7/1/07
Start	\$14.11
6 Months	\$14.95
Step 1	\$15.77
Step 2	\$16.61
Step 3	\$17.44
Step 4	\$18.26
Step 5	\$19.10
Step 6	\$20.03

OFFICE ASSISTANTS 2008/2009

	Effective 7/1/08
Start	\$14.36
6 Months	\$15.21
Step 1	\$16.05
Step 2	\$16.90
Step 3	\$17.75
Step 4	\$18.58
Step 5	\$19.43
Step 6	\$20.39

OFFICE ASSISTANTS 2009/2010

	Effective 7/1/09	
Start	\$14.61	
6 Months	\$15.47	
Step 1	\$16.33	
Step 2	\$17.19	
Step 3	\$18.06	
Step 4	\$18.91	
Step 5	\$19.77	
Step 6	\$20.74	

APPENDIX C

DISCLAIMER FORM

Name: _____ Campus Base: _____

This is to certify that I am not covered under any other employer-provided hospital, medical, surgical health plan and am eligible for Oakland Schools insurance. In the event I become covered under another employer-provided health plan, I shall promptly notify Oakland Schools Personnel Department in writing of such coverage.

Signature: _____

Date: _____

APPENDIX D

Grievance #_____

GRIEVANCE FORM

(To be filed within fifteen (15) days of occurrence)

Grievant	Initial Filing Date	
Job Classification		
Campus	Dean	
Date of Alleged Grievance		
Contract Provision(s) Allegedly Violated		
Statement of Alleged Violation:		

Redress or Relief Sought:

Signature of Grievant

One copy to Dean One copy to Association

APPENDIX E

OAKLAND SCHOOLS NEW TEACHER MENTORING PROGRAM

Mentor Role

Master Teachers selected to mentor new Oakland Schools' teachers will:

- Provide guidance and feedback to the mentee regarding all aspects of their performance.
- Reinforce skill building in classroom management and instructional pedagogy.
- Observe each mentee a minimum of two half-days per year.
- Be observed by each mentee a minimum of two half-days per year.
- Attend one (1) mentor training session.
- Use Coaching & Mentoring First Year and Student Teachers by Podsen/Denmark as the program guide (book/training provided).
- Document mentor/mentee contacts and topics. Example: Daily/weekly chats regarding classroom management, lesson planning, integrating technology into daily practice, critiquing a videotaped lesson, team planning, dealing with parents.
- Receive a \$400 yearly stipend for the mentoring of a new teacher. (Stipend paid per semester.)
- Receive an additional \$200 yearly stipend for each additional new teacher mentored under this program (limited to a total of three mentees).
- Receive 1.0 SB-CEU for serving as a successful mentor for the year.
- Meet with Dean periodically to discuss mentor/mentee process and progress.
- Turn in mentor log once per semester to Dean.

APPENDIX F-1

ATTACHMENT 1-A

Dear Mr. Cain;

The following shall serve to confirm our understanding regarding attendance at cluster meetings.

Attendance at cluster meetings is part of the employees contract day for which the employee has already been paid. Therefore, those employees who fail to attend a cluster meeting will have three hours of pay deducted from their paid leave time under Section 13.1.

If the employee's failure to attend is unexcused, the employee will also be subject to progressive discipline after the second unexcused absence.

In an attempt to administer this provision consistently, a list of what will be excused is attached.

The cluster meeting schedule shall be published within the first two weeks of each school year. If a cluster meeting is rescheduled, an employee may apply for an excused absence without any deduction of pay due to a prior commitment which cannot be changed. The written application shall be filed with the Dean, setting forth the nature of the commitment and the reason it cannot be changed. All reasonable requests will be approved.

LIST OF EXCUSED ABSENCES FOR CLUSTER MEETING

- 1. Absence from regular workday or go home ill during the regular workday.
- 2. Approved leave of absence
- 3. Attendance at a required college class needed for certification.

J:\FBS\WP\5994-Oakland-Med-Rec-SA.101

APPENDIX F-2

Guidelines for Cluster Meeting Attendance

The following guidelines were agreed upon for the charging of mandatory missed cluster meetings pursuant to Attachment 1-A of the Mediator's Recommended Settlement Agreement (attached) dated August 19, 2003.

Excused Absences

Excused (as determined by the respective Dean) absences will be charged according to the OTCEA Master Agreement under Paid Leaves. The following absences may be excused:

Personal Illness – Oakland Schools will not charge staff members for absences from cluster meetings if the staff member utilized sick leave due to an illness for the entire day or staff member receives approval to leave early during the regular work day due to illness and is charged according to the OTCEA Master Agreement under Paid Leaves.

Medical and dental examinations or treatments – Staff members who utilize sick leave due to medical and dental examinations or treatments must be able to demonstrate their inability to schedule an appointment at any other time.

Illness in the staff member's immediate family - Immediate family is generally defined as spouse, parent, and child. Staff members who utilize sick leave due to illness in the staff member's immediate family **must** be pre-approved.

Approved Leave of Absence – Oakland Schools will not charge staff members for absences from cluster meetings if the staff member was on an approved leave of absence.

Participation in degree Program - Oakland Schools will not charge staff members for absences from cluster meetings if the staff member was required to attend a class for the purpose of completing a related degree program to comply with requirements for annual authorization or certification. Written documentation must be presented to the dean and Human Resources that the class was not available on any other day besides Tuesday and be pre-approved by dean. Each semester, the building dean will forward a list of staff members attending such classes along with the written documentation.

Oakland Schools will not charge staff members for excused absences from cluster meetings if the staff member has prior <u>written approval</u> from the dean to make up the hours missed.

Unexcused Absences

If an individual has an unexcused absence they will receive a letter from dean notifying them of their unexcused absence, a copy of the letter will be provided to the Association and the individual will have (3) hours of pay deducted from their paid leave time under Section 13.1. Additional unexcused absences will be subject to progressive discipline.

In the event Oakland Schools decides to close a campus for emergency reasons, staff members are still expected to attend their regular scheduled cluster meeting.

In all instances of an absence from the meetings, excused or unexcused, the individual is expected to work their regular scheduled planning time.

APPENDIX G

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

The purpose of this Letter of Understanding is to clarify for the life of the agreement the intent of Article 28 – Compensation, specifically article 28.1 and the implementation of the 15-year payment.

- For purposes of qualifying for the payment of the 15-year step, it is understood that those individuals who had completed 15 years of continuous teaching service to the Oakland Technical Centers (OTC) prior to July 1, 2000 are not required to complete the individual professional development plan. Such individuals shall receive the amount set forth in the agreement as part of their regular compensation.
- 2. Those individuals who complete 15 years of continuous service after July 1, 2000 shall prepare an individual professional development plan in conjunction with their supervisor and shall submit the plan not later than September 30th of each successive year. The plan shall be completed not later than April 30th each year in order to qualify for the 15-year payment.
- 3. For purposes of identifying "15 years of teaching service with Oakland Schools", the step at which an individual is placed at the time of hire as well as any continuous years of teaching service in the OTC with one of the four original operating districts, shall be counted toward the 15 year threshold and constitute years of service.
- 4. Placement on the step schedule at the time of hire shall not affect the individual's seniority with Oakland Schools and the individual's seniority and longevity shall be determined by the actual date of hire.
- 5. This interpretation of article 28.1 shall be applied to any individuals identified after the date this letter is executed as havin; 15 years of service by July 1, 2000

Dated this \underline{al}^{\pm} day of February, 2002

O.T.C.E.A.:

For Ca

Tom Cain. President OTCEA

Oakland Schools:

POP

David C. Ruhland, Assoc Dir.

LETTER "A" LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

The following shall serve to confirm our understanding relative to the titles to be used by Oakland Schools. The titles of "Instructional Technician" includes the positions formerly classified as Paraprofessionals at Royal Oak, including the Interpreter, the Paraprofessionals at Walled Lake, the instructional technicians at Clarkston and the teacher assistants in Pontiac, including teacher intern.

The title "Teacher" includes Counselors, it being understood that the "Placement Specialist" at Walled Lake is a Counselor as are the Student Services Teachers at Clarkston.

LETTER "B" LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

There shall be one classification of office assistants at the Oakland Technical Centers. Office assistants will be cross-trained to perform core office functions and work as a team. At least one position at each campus will be a 52-week position, provided, however, that Oakland agrees to grandfather a current office assistant who is working 52 weeks at her current campus, while she remains in her current position and desires to be on a 52-week schedule. Under normal circumstances, a less than 52-week office assistant will work one week before the start of the work year for returning teachers and one week after the end of the teacher work year, unless a longer work year is approved, in writing, by the Director of Career-Focused Education, provided, however, Oakland agrees to grandfather any current less than 52-week office assistant who is working a longer period at her current campus while the office assistant remains in her current position and desires to work the longer schedule.

LETTER "C" CONTRACT IMPLEMENTATION

1. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the applicable labor agreements with their current District, employees who resign their employment with their current District and become Oakland Schools employees shall be allowed to transfer their individual, earned unused sick leave as of June 30, 2000, from their current District to Oakland Schools.

Upon death, retirement or resignation from Oakland Schools, said employees will be paid for the earned, unused sick leave brought over to Oakland Schools up to the total number of days transferred to Oakland Schools, at the rates specified and under the terms and conditions outlined in the applicable collective bargaining agreements in effect as of February 1, 2000, in their current District.

- 2. For the life of this Agreement, a teacher whose salary was grandfathered in 2000/01 will receive the negotiated general increases for 2005/06 and 2006/07.
- 3. Teachers and instructional technicians who work the entire school year, who resign or retire from their employment at the end of the school year, shall have their applicable health care coverage continued until the start of the next school year.
- 4. Effective the pay period following ratification of this 2005/06 Agreement, office assistants will be placed on the new Appendix B-2 Salary Schedule in accordance with the Letter of Understanding dated August 11, 2005 between the District and the OTCEA.
 - 5. In the event the universal time at Royal Oak is scheduled other than at the end of the workday, the equivalent amount of time shall be optional at the end of the day on Friday and Thursday, if necessary.

LETTER "D" PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT/CLUSTER ATTENDANCE

During the fiscal year, professional development for teachers and instructional technicians will consist of the following:

- Four cluster development meetings;
- Three staff development sessions focusing on curriculum, instruction, and assessment as determined by the employer; and
- Two individual professional development opportunities selected by the employee.

Attendance at the cluster development meetings and staff development sessions will continue to be governed in accordance with Attachment 1-A.

Individual professional development selected by the employee will be:

- Consistent with state guidelines for professional development of teachers.
- Submitted in writing and pre-approved by the campus Dean.
- Outside the normal work schedule as set forth in Article 12 of the master agreement.
- Directly related to current job assignment.
- Completed during the period July 1st through June 30th of the current fiscal year.
- Documented demonstrating participation and/or completion of professional development activity. Documentation may include certificate of completion, SBCEU certificate, and grade report. Documentation must be submitted to the campus Dean not later than 30 calendar days upon completion or participation in the professional development activity.

Region Jos Alexandre Alexandre

Oakland Schools does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, sex, marital status, religion or disability. For employment matters contact the Director of Human Resources at 248.209.2059. For all other matters, contact the Director of Legal Affairs at 248.209.2062, 2111 Pontiac Lake Road, Waterford MI 48328-2735.